1998

State of Utah v. Steven Knight : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

Authority for said appeal is found within the confine of Section Rule 26 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure; Utah State Constitution Article I, Section 12; Utah Code Annotated Section 77-1 6(g); and Section 78-2-2 (i) Utah Code Annotated, and the Rule of the Utah Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant seeks review of the trial court's ruling denying the defendant's motion to suppress.

Defendant filed a motion to suppress challenging the search of a 'storage unit' and of his 'home'. The defendant entered a "Sery" plea on September 24, 1997. He reserved the right to appeal the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress evidence. The State was unable to produce a signed search warrant. The officer asserted that the basis for entry into the 'storage unit' was the search warrant. The fruits obtained in the 'storage unit' search were the basis for the probable cause finding to enter his home. Defendant asserts the search of the home falls under the 'fruit of the poisonous tree' doctrine and the evidence found therein should be suppressed.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES

Article 1, section 14 (Unreasonable searches forbidden -- Issuance of warrant.):

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized.

Utah State Code 77-23-201:

A search warrant is an order issued by a magistrate in the name of the state and directed to a peace officer, describing with particularity the thing, place, or person to be searched and the property or evidence to be seized by him and brought before the magistrate.

Utah State Code 77-23-207: The officer, after execution of the warrant, shall promptly make a verified return of the warrant to the magistrate and deliver a written inventory of anything seized, stating the place where it is being held.

Utah State Code 77-23-209. The magistrate shall annex to the depositions and affidavits upon which the search warrant is based, the search warrant, the return, and the inventory. If he is without authority to proceed further with respect to the offense under which the warrant was issued, he shall return them to the appropriate court of the county having jurisdiction within 15 days after the return.

STATEMENT OF CASE

The appeal is from a final order of this Court entering judgment against the defendant on December 19, 1998. A 'Sery" plea was made reserving defendant's right to appeal. See Entry of Plea September 24, 1997. The trial court also entered a 'Certificate of Probable Cause.' The essence of the appeal is to seek a review of the denial of defendant's motion to suppress. Defendant sought the Court to suppress evidence taken from the defendant's residence.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The defendant was convicted of the following:
'possession of marijuana with intent to distribute' in violation of U.C.A. 58-37-8 and 'cultivation of marijuana' in violation of U.C.A. 58-37-8. Both third degree felonies.

The defendant filed a motion to suppress seeking suppression of evidence located within his home. The officers herein searched the residence of the defendant on December 22, 1995 which is the basis for the charges. The home search was authorized by a signed search warrant. The home search was based on a probable cause finding relating to the contraband located in 'storage units' search by police previously.

The search of the 'storage unit' was made based on the reported authority of a search warrant. That warrant was never signed or authorized by a proper Court. The search of the 'storage unit' operated as the springboard to a probable cause finding to search of the defendant's home by warrant. Excepting the contraband located in the 'storage unit', no probable cause exist to search the residence.

Defendant questions the legality of the storage unit search and thereby the residential search.

The second search warrant (defendant's residence) was based

on an affidavit. The defendant draws attention the following provisions and questions whether probable cause exists:

- a. The officers served a warrant (search) on a storage unit at 140 West Center Street, Orem, Utah. This was based on information from a confidential informant who reported that a large quantity of marijuana (85 pounds) was located therein.
- b. The informant reported that the person renting the unit was known as Steve and he lived at 172 North 920 West, Orem, Utah. See paragraph 4 of affidavit. This was contradicted by the lease or rental agreement for the storage unit.
- c. Reports that Steven used a fictitious name to rent out the storage unit noted above under a fictitious name of a person who lived down the street from Steven. See paragraph 8.
- d. The officers conducted a records check of the storage unit and learned that the unit was listed to a Justin Dzinblenski as a renter. Mr. Dzinblenski resided at 1106 West 180 North, Orem, Utah.
- e. The copies of the warrant and affidavit provided the defendant for authority to search the 'storage unit' were neither signed by the Court or the affiant.
- f. No information is given as the basis for which the information was obtained. The affidavits report only that the informant relayed this data to the officers and the officers believe him to be reliable, although various inconsistencies exists throughout the affidavits.

The police entered a storage unit under the pretext of a approved search warrant. No signed warrant was produced at trial and none was filed with the Court pursuant to the statutorily mandated procedure. The evidence obtained from the search was used as a springboard to a probable cause finding to search the defendant's home.

Defendant moved to suppress evidence in the above case and alleging that the probable cause set out in the affidavit to support the issuance of the search warrant was insufficient. Secondly, the probable cause used to support the search of the defendant's home on December 21, 1995 was based on improperly obtained evidence; more particularly the officers entered a storage unit under the authority of the unsigned search warrant.

A hearing to suppress evidence was conducted on July 11, 1997, before the Honorable Guy Burningham wherein evidence was given. The State called Officer Russell Billings of the Provo Police Department.

The Court prior to taking evidence made findings as follows:

The Court: There was a search of a storage unit. Based upon the search of that storage unit it led to a request for a search warrant of a home, the home of the defendants. And that search was conducted. We need to go back, I guess to the search of the storage unit. There's some question, I guess because we haven't seen a signed copy of that warrant. . . .

Mr. Hadfield (for the State of Utah): We have copy of the warrant and affidavit but not signed.

The Court: But neither are signed. So we need some evidence. I guess, to guess whether or not either were signed. (Transcript Page 4 Lines 14- Page 5 Line 2)

(Further: Page 16 Line 1 through Line 10.)

The Court: I've got the unsigned affidavit for the storage unit.

Mr. Hadfield: We all have that.

The Court: I have the unsigned search warrant for the storage unit.

Mr. Hadfield: I'm sure you have the stuff on the home.

The Court: I have the signed warrant on the home dated the 27 day of November, 1995, which is on the home, a 171 north 920 west Orem: is that correct.

Officer Russell Billings was called and testified that he was asked to provide copies of the warrant and affidavit for the search of the storage unit and he provided unsigned copies of the same. (T. 19 Lines 8-11). The officer believed that the warrants were signed. (T. 19 Line 17.) His file only contained a copy of the affidavit and the warrant and he asserted that the signed copies were returned to the Court for filing. (T. 19 Line 22-25).

Apparently, the documents had not been returned to the Court as provided under the statutory mandates of U.C.A. 77-23-207 & 77-23-209. The officer reported that the clerks were unable to find anything in the file. (T. 20 Lines 10-11). The officer could not recall which judge they went to obtain the Court's signature. (T.20 Lines 12-14) (T. 23 Line 16).

The officer reported that at times they have went to the Justice Court magistrates or even to a Municipal Justice Court to have

warrants signed. The officer reported that they had, in the past, went to a Justice of the Peace for Pleasant Grove which was not authorized to approve warrants dealing with felony matters or one having geographical jurisdiction over the conduct. Further he failed to return the documents to the Court for filing and recordation and thereby preserving the integrity of the document.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence seized during both searches should be suppressed. Both the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments, as well as their state counterparts, protects persons from unreasonable searches. The state's failure to produce a signed warrant at trial supports the demand that the evidence be suppressed under the exclusionary rule. Demand for a signed warrant having been made, the prosecution could only produce a unsigned warrant. The police failed to follow statutory guidelines for the preservation of the integrity of the warrant and had not justifiable reason why the warrant was not returned to the Court. The results of the failure to comply with statutory mandates by the police should not prejudice the defendant but should fall upon the party responsible for such a failure.

The seizure of this property by the unsigned warrant provided additional cause (although illegal) in combination with uncorroborated information from a confidential informant to enter

the defendant's home and search the premises. Also, the information received from the confidential informant failed to establish the requisite probable cause.

The evidence found while searching of the defendant's residence should be suppressed under the 'fruits of the poisonous tree doctrine.'

DETAILS OF ARGUMENT

1) The State failed to evidence that a proper court sign the search warrant presented by the peace officers to the defendant and the warrant was never produced at trial;

2) The officers did not follow the statutory mandates relating to the proper return of the warrant and affidavits to the issuing Court; and

3) There was no probable cause to approve the search of the home.

POINT ONE

AN UNSIGNED WARRANT IS NOT ADMISSIBLE. IT MUST BE SIGNED BY THE MAGISTRATE.

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provision of the Utah Constitution, Article 1 §14, contain a warrant requirement. The warrant requirement protects individual privacy from unrestrained exercise of governmental power. This warrant requirement is not to be taken

lightly.

"A search or seizure which is undertaken without a warrant or pursuant to an invalid search warrant is unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment" to the Constitution and violates, Article I § 14, of the Utah Constitution. See, e.g., United States v. Glover, 104 F.3d 1570 (10th)

A search warrant is defined under Utah State Code ~ 77-23-201:

A search warrant is an order issued by a magistrate in the name of the state and directed to a peace officer, describing with particularity the thing, place, or person to be searched and the property or evidence to be seized by him and brought before the magistrate.

Under this section of the Utah Code it is clear that only a "magistrate" of the court can issue a search warrant. The term "issue" requires that the magistrate physically sign the search warrant to verify its authenticity. Utah case law supports the notion that a search warrant is valid only once the magistrate has signed it. See, e.g. State v. Potter, 860 P.2d 952, 954 (Utah Ct. App. 1993); State v. McIntire, 768 P.2d 970 (Utah App. 1989); and State v. Singleton, 854 P.2d 1017, 1019 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

Although Utah courts have yet to specifically address the issue of whether an unsigned search warrant is valid, the issue has not gone unnoticed in other jurisdictions. Just last year in Idaho the same issue was presented before the Idaho Supreme Court in Mathews v.

State, 934 P.2d 931 (Idaho 1997). The Supreme Court held that due to the judge's failure to sign a warrant to search a residence, in which the murder weapon and shoes were discovered, the search warrant was invalid. Id. at 934.

In Michigan, the state court of appeals reached the same conclusion as the Idaho court. In People v. Hentkowsk. 154 Mich.App. 171, 397 N.W.2d 255 (1986), the court found that a search and seizure made pursuant to a warrant not signed by a magistrate was unconstitutional. In that case, the magistrate stated that he intended to sign the warrant, still the court ruled that it was unconstitutional "even though failure to sign was merely inadvertent." Id. at 258.

In State v. Williams. 57 Ohio St.3d 24, 565 N.E.2d S63 (1991), the Supreme Court of Ohio ruled that evidence found during the search of suspect's home made pursuant to a search warrant that was not signed by the judge was required to be suppressed, as "the warrant was void ab intio." Id. Here the Court reasoned that a signature requirement "is indeed the best device for safeguarding an individual's rights as provided in the Fourth Amendment." Id. at 565.

In addition to the above case support, public policy does not support the encouragement of police misconduct which could result if searches based on unsigned warrants were declared valid. The potential for abuse is clear. On the other hand, the police are not overly burdened by a signature requirement. Those officers who execute a search must limit their search to the dictates of the

warrant. Thus, they must necessarily review the document before they search. When the improperly issued document is discovered, the police can take corrective measures and thereafter conduct the search. See United States v. Mayer, 620F. Supp. 249 (D. Utah 1985), rev'd on other grounds, 818 F.2d 725 (10th Cir. 1987) where a warrant was struck down for the peace officer's failure to follow the procedures in obtaining a telephonic warrant.

The simple requirement of a signature provides needed protections and assurances to persons in control of property that is to be searched. When such persons are presented with a document, which is alleged to be a search warrant, they must be able to review the document and determine whether or not they should allow the officers to search. The custodian should not have to guess as to whether a magistrate intended or did not intend to sign the document which is presented to the custodian.

Under the exclusionary rule, evidence obtained by an illegal search is suppressed "as a necessary consequence of police violations of this section [UT Const. Art. I, § 14]." State v. Larocco, 794 P.2d 460 (Utah 1990).

Signature requirements have long been recognized as fulfilling cautionary functions in protecting an individual's rights. In Utah, signature requirements are necessary for wills and the transfer of real property. Also, a will is invalid unless it is in writing and signed. See, U.C.A. § 57-18 2. Certainty, the protection of one's right as

guaranteed by the United States Constitution and the Constitution of this state to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures should not be granted any less protection than that afforded to property rights. To protect this constitutional right, it is necessary to require the signature of the issuing magistrate on a search warrant prior to the search.

A. GOOD FAITH EXCEPTIONS
AND PROCEDURAL ERRORS

The courts are aware that small technicalities can occur during the issuance of a search warrant and therefore a "good faith" exception exists for police officers who fail to follow the correct procedures in obtaining a search warrant as outlined in § 77-23-204(2). However, this exception only applies when the mistake is in "good faith" and not when the possessor of the search warrant "should have known it was patently invalid." United States v. Mayer, 620 F. Supp. 249 (D. Utah 1985), rev'd on other grounds, 818 F. 2d 725 (10th Cir. 1987).

In Mayer, the Court dealt with a telephonically obtained warrant wherein the procedures for obtaining such were not followed per the dictates of statute. The Court found that under Utah law, the police may obtain a telephonic warrant but the magistrate must record the warrant as read to him and he must then signed what he has recorded. In Mayer, the officers read nothing to the magistrate. Nothing was signed and nothing was returned. The magistrate did not record what was related to him. No duplicate

originals was made out and kept by the officers. Accordingly, there was no facially valid warrant on which the officers could have relied. The Court found that this was not a minor defect which could be swept away under the "good faith" exception. It was a difficult proposition to accept that an experienced law enforcement agent could, in good faith, believe that an unsigned search warrant was valid.

In State v. Anderton, 668 P.2d 1258 (Utah 1983), it was argued by the defense that a magistrate's failure to return the search warrant and related documents to the appropriate court within fifteen days (in compliance with U.C.A. 77-23-9 (1953)) rendered the document void. The Court declined to rule so and found that the violation was nothing more than a failure to perform a ministerial act which did not affect the validity of the warrant. However, the Court noted that the defense failed to show that the failure to comply with the statute affected defendant's substantial rights or in any compromised the integrity of the documents.

Here, the State purposes to use an unsigned warrant based on the officer's statement that it was signed. However, the officer did not recall which magistrate approved the warrants; does not recall if it was a proper magistrate authorized to approve warrants dealing with felony matters or one having geographical jurisdiction over the conduct. He failed to return the documents to the Court for filing and

recording and thereby preserving the integrity of the document. Here, the substantial rights of the defendant are affected by an unsigned warrant which we have simply the officer's testimony alone to assure that they were in fact signed.

B. FAILURE TO PRODUCE THE SIGNED WARRANT AT TRIAL

The State's failure to produce the unsigned warrant at trial raises further suspicion as to its authenticity. In Mapp v. Ohio, 81 S.Ct. 1684 (1961), the Supreme Court reversed the Ohio Supreme Court in a similar criminal case. In Mapp the police showed the defendant a piece of paper "claimed to be a warrant." Id., 1686. But at trial, "no search warrant was produced by the prosecution, nor was the failure to produce one explained or accounted for." The state court had held that even though the existence of the warrant was in doubt, the fact that the evidence had not been "taken from the defendant's person by brutal or offensive physical force against the defendant" that the search was not unreasonable. State v. Mapp, 170 Ohio St. 427, 431, 166 N.E.2d 387, 389-90 (1960). The United States Supreme Court reversed, holding that the rule excluding illegally seized evidence is of Constitutional origin and protected by the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 1686 88. The Supreme Court stressed that it is not the physical force that is offensive in an illegal search but rather "the invasion of his inalienable right of personal security, personal liberty and private property." Id., 1687.

The Supreme Court of Utah has held, in State v. Sessions, 583 P.2d 44 (1978), that when a warrant is not properly challenged at trial it "must be presumed valid, and the evidence thereby obtained was properly admitted." This is opposed to substantive issues addressed here.

Here, considerable doubt as to whether there ever was any warrant for searching the storage unit. No signed warrant was offered into evidence, and the warrant's absence from the Court's file is neither explained or otherwise accounted.

From the facts, the search of the storage unit appears to have been without a proper warrant and therefore illegal under the Utah Constitution and the Fourth Amendment Constitution of the United States. Indeed, it would be a *strange burden for the court to place upon the accused the necessity to prove the existence of a signed or unsigned search warrant when the accused never had possessed control or had access to such a document.*

It would run contrary to good public policy, by allowing the police to engage in sloppy, unsupported searches. It would run contrary to public policy to allow police to utilized unsigned warrants or to allow sloppy accounting of said warrants and their return to the judiciary.

It promote good public policy to forewarn police of the necessity to maintain a proper accounting of the warrants and return them to the judiciary for safekeeping and thereby allowing the

accused and public access to such documents.

To provide otherwise seems to be far too comprehensive and susceptible to abuse by police and prosecution authorities.

C. STATUTORY GUIDELINES

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