1998

## State of Utah v. Steven Knight : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I**

Defendant's entire claim on appeal, that police searched the storage unit without a valid warrant and that without the fruits of the storage unit search there was insufficient probable cause to search his residence, are dependent on his establishing an expectation of privacy in the storage unit. However, because defendant has not at any point asserted a privacy interest in the storage unit, he has not established standing to challenge the constitutionality of the search of the unit, and therefore, this Court need not consider the merits of defendant's claim on appeal.

### **POINT II**

Defendant argues that because the search of the storage unit was executed upon an unsigned warrant the search was invalid. However, based on testimony which it plainly regarded as credible, the trial court found that the warrant had been signed and that the search was validly executed. Because defendant fails to adequately challenge the trial court's finding as clearly erroneous, his lengthy argument that the warrant was unsigned is irrelevant to the central issue on appeal.

### POINT III

The affidavit in support of the storage shed stated several facts corroborating information freely given to police by the confidential informant and noting that the informant had seen defendant with large amounts of marijuana on his person, that a controlled buy led police to a marijuana characteristic of the way defendant was known to police to conduct sales of contraband. Thus, even assuming that the search of the storage unit was invalid, the affidavit amply set out facts which, independent of the discovery of marijuana in the storage unit, not only demonstrated that the confidential informant was reliable, but that there was probable cause to search defendant's house.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

**BECAUSE DEFENDANT HAS NOT AT ANY POINT ASSERTED A PRIVACY INTEREST IN THE STORAGE UNITS, HE HAS NOT ESTABLISHED STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE SEARCH OF THOSE UNITS**

“According to the Supreme Court, in order to challenge the propriety of a search, a defendant must first establish ‘a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place.’” State v. Scott, 860 P.2d 1005, 1007 (Utah App. 1993) (quoting Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143, 99 S. Ct. 421, 430 (1978)) (emphasis added); State v. Sepulveda, 842 P.2d 913, 915 (Utah App. 1992) (same); accord State v. Atwood, 831 P.2d 1056, 1058 (Utah App. 1992). The entire thrust of defendant's claims on appeal, to wit: police searched the

storage unit without a valid warrant and that without the fruits of the storage unit search there was insufficient probable cause to search his residence, are dependent on his establishing an expectation of privacy in the storage unit. However, because defendant has not at any point asserted a privacy interest in the storage unit, he has not established standing to challenge the constitutionality of the search of the unit, and therefore, this Court need not consider the merits of defendant's claims on appeal.<sup>4</sup>

**A. Factual Background.**

Receiving only unsigned copies of the warrants and supporting affidavits for both searches in response to his discovery request, defendant moved to suppress evidence seized from his residence, vaguely challenging the validity of the search of the storage unit for lack of a signed warrant and the reliability of the confidential informant (R. 13, 50-64).<sup>5</sup> The State answered by arguing in support of the confidential informant's reliability, but principally argued that defendant's motion should be dismissed for failure to assert standing to challenge the search of the storage unit (R. 80-87). Defendant

---

<sup>4</sup> The State's challenge to defendant's standing was, as discussed below, clearly presented to the trial court and supported by the record. However, the trial court sidestepped the challenge in the interest of expediency, ultimately concluding that the search of the storage unit was valid (R. 104-05). Thus, the State's claim is properly presented as an alternative argument on appeal. See State v. South, 924 P.2d 354, 357 (Utah 1996) (requiring court of appeals to consider alternative ground for affirmance of convictions).

<sup>5</sup> Prior to the July 11, 1997 hearing on the motion to suppress, the prosecutor provided to the trial court, and presumably defendant, a signed affidavit and warrant relating to the search of defendant's house (R. 25-30, 136:16). On appeal, defendant does not challenge the validity of these documents.



responded, albeit without asserting a privacy interest in the storage units (R. 90-93, 98-101).

On July 11, 1997 there was an evidentiary hearing on defendant's motion to suppress (R. 136).<sup>6</sup> On the issue of standing, the prosecutor again argued that defendant was required to establish his standing before being allowed to challenge the search of the storage units (R. 136:5-8). Defendant expressed reluctance to assert his standing because he feared it would expose him to possible charges stemming from the discovery of the marijuana in the storage unit (R. 136:9, 11). The trial court recognized that whether or not the search of the storage unit was valid, the crucial determination was whether there was probable cause for police to search defendant's residence (R. 136:11-13). Therefore, looking for an expedient way to reach the validity of the residential search, the trial court assumed for the purposes of the hearing only that defendant had asserted a privacy interest in the storage unit and directed the parties to proceed (R. 105, 136:11-14).

**B. Defendant Offered no Reasonable Basis for Refusing to Assert an Expectation of Privacy in the Storage Unit.**

In his response to the State's challenge to his Fourth Amendment standing,

---

<sup>6</sup> There was also an earlier, non-evidentiary hearing on defendant's motion to suppress on March 24, 1997 (R. 65). The record of that hearing has not been made part of record on appeal. However, that hearing was held before the prosecution filed its responsive memorandum, raising for the first time the issue of defendant's failure to assert standing, and the trial court continued the matter (R. 65). Since the record was evidently most fully developed at the subsequent July 11, 1997 evidentiary hearing, the State considers the existing appellate record sufficient for this Court to rule on the merits of this issue.

defendant argued that the State was effectively precluded from asserting the challenge based on the supporting affidavit, which implied defendant had an interest in the storage unit (R. 93). He further argued that the State could not consistently deny his standing to challenge the search of the storage unit and at the same time assert his interest in the storage unit in which the marijuana was found to support the search of his residence, allegedly the sole basis for probable cause to search his residence (R. 93).

Defendant's argument is specious because it suggests (1) that it is the State's burden, rather than a defendant's, to assert a privacy interest in searched place, and (2) that it is the beliefs of the police, rather than the assertions of a defendant, that determine the existence of a defendant's privacy interest. In State v. Kolster, 869 P.2d 993 (Utah App. 1994), this Court rejected in a factually similar scenario the same arguments suggested by defendant in this case.

In Kolster, the police received an anonymous tip informing them that the defendant would be receiving marijuana in a package bearing false names and mailed to a friend of the defendant's. Id. at 994. The police intercepted the package, identified the true names of the recipients, obtained a warrant, and opened the package and discovered marijuana. Id. Two days later police secured a second warrant to search the recipient's premises, found defendant on the premises, and arrested him for possession of a controlled substance. Id. Affirming the trial court's determination that the defendant had failed to establish a legitimate expectation of privacy in the package, this Court stated:

First, [the defendant] has not demonstrated a subjective expectation of privacy in the searched package. [The defendant] never asserted a property or possessory interest in the package as required to show privacy expectations under Rakas, 439 U.S. at 148, 99 S. Ct. at 433. [The defendant] simply argues that because narcotics officers learned from an anonymous source that he was the intended recipient, he somehow achieved a subjective expectation of privacy in the package. We disagree. "[A]n officer's belief is irrelevant to the question of a defendant's expectation of privacy." State v. DeAlo, 748 P.2d 194, 197 (Utah App. 1987). What an officer knew or believed is part of our legitimate expectation of privacy analysis only when a defendant has asserted to that officer a permissive or possessory interest in the object searched. See Sepulveda, 842 P.2d at 916; State v. Robinson, 797 P.2d 431, 437 n.6 (Utah App. 1990).

Kolster, 869 P.2d at 995.

As in Kolster, defendant never asserted a possessory interest in the storage unit. Indeed, he equivocated in his response, stating that he had neither denied renting the unit nor argued that he had not, plainly refusing to assert such an interest (R. 99). At the suppression hearing, he plainly admitted that he had never asserted an interest in the storage unit, and again steadfastly refused to assert such an interest (R. 136:6, 9, 14).<sup>7</sup> In

---

<sup>7</sup> Defendant argued at the suppression hearing that he was reluctant to assert a possessory interest in the storage unit for the purpose of establishing standing for fear of exposing defendant to criminal liability for possession of the marijuana found in the unit, conduct not then charged (R. 136:9, 11). The argument fails to establish a sufficient basis for a defendant's evading the necessary assertion of an expectation of privacy. Commenting on the applicability of automatic standing, a theory defendant in this case also urged in his response (R. 92), the Washington Court of Appeals explained:

The doctrine of automatic standing was abandoned under federal law because it no longer served the function for which it was created. The rule was designed to avoid the "'constitutional dilemma' of forcing a defendant charged with a possessory crime to choose between preserving" her Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination or invoking her Fourth Amendment rights. . . . However, in Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 88 S.Ct. 967, 19 L.Ed.2d 1247 (1968), the U.S. Supreme Court held that a defendant's testimony in support of a motion to suppress

sum, because defendant's claims on appeal are fully dependant on his standing to assert a challenge to the search of the storage unit, standing which he has refused to assert, this court should decline to consider any of his claims urged on appeal. However, even considering defendant's claims, they are patently without merit.

## POINT II

**BECAUSE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING, THAT THERE EXISTED A VALIDLY SIGNED WARRANT FOR THE SEARCH OF THE STORAGE UNIT, WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, HIS ARGUMENT THAT THE SEARCH WAS INVALID BECAUSE THE WARRANT WAS UNSIGNED IS IRRELEVANT**

Defendant argues at length that because the warrant authorizing the search of the storage unit was not signed by a magistrate the search was invalid. Br. of App. at 11-20. The State does not dispute that the validity of an unsigned warrant is an arguable point. However, the argument defendant makes is irrelevant to this case. The trial court found that the warrant authorizing the search was signed, notwithstanding the prosecution's inability to produce a signed copy at the suppression hearing, a finding which defendant only indirectly challenges in presenting his misdirected claim. Br. of App. at 18.

---

is not admissible as evidence of guilt at trial. Consequently, in [United States v.] Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83, 100 S.Ct. 2547, 65 L.Ed.2d 619 [(1980)], the Court abolished the federal automatic standing rule because, after Simmons, the risk of potential self- incrimination no longer existed. [Citation omitted.]

State v. Carter, 875 P.2d 1, 3-4 (Wash. App. 1994), aff'd, 904 P.2d 290 (Wash. 1995). See also Kostler, 869 P.2d at 996 (finding automatic standing rule inapplicable).

Because defendant has failed to show that the trial court's finding was clearly erroneous, defendant's argument that the search was conducted without a signed warrant is irrelevant, and this Court should decline to consider it.

**A. Review of a Trial Court's Findings is Highly Deferential.**

In State v. Pena, the Utah Supreme Court set out a highly deferential standard for reviewing a trial court's findings of fact:

Trial courts are given primary responsibility for making determinations of fact. Findings of fact are reviewed by an appellate court under the clearly erroneous standard. For a reviewing court to find clear error, it must decide that the factual findings made by the trial court are not adequately supported by the record, resolving all disputes in the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court's determination. See Wessel v. Erickson Landscaping Co., 711 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah 1985); see also United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 395, 92 L. Ed. 746, 68 S. Ct. 525 (1948). This standard is highly deferential to the trial court because it is before that court that the witnesses and parties appear and the evidence is adduced. The judge of that court is therefore considered to be in the best position to assess the credibility of witnesses and to derive a sense of the proceeding as a whole, something an appellate court cannot hope to garner from a cold record. In re J. Children, 664 P.2d 1158, 1161 (Utah 1983). [Emphasis added.]

State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994). "Clear error is indicated when the trial court's factual assessment is against the clear weight of the evidence or it induces a firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." State v. Droneburg, 781 P.2d 1303, (Utah App. 1989) (citing State v. Ashe, 745 P.2d 1255, 1258 (Utah 1987)).

**B. Factual Background.**

At the suppression hearing, Officer Billings testified that, as to the search of the

storage units, he specifically remembered the case from his personal involvement, he was sure that he had a signed, sworn warrant at the time he searched the units, and that a return of warrant was subsequently filed with the court (R. 136:19-21 ). However, when he later checked with the court clerks, they were unable to locate anything in the file (R. 136:19-20). He further testified that in the time period at issue he had served hundreds of warrants, that he did not recall the judge who signed the warrant to search the units, but that he had never served an unsigned warrant (R. 136:20-21).

Finding credible and persuasive Officer Billings specific memory of this case and his assertion that he had never served an unsigned warrant, the trial court denied defendant's motion to suppress, finding that a valid warrant had been prepared for the search of the storage unit (Ruling, R. 105-04).

**C. Defendant Fails to Show that the Trial Court's Finding was Clearly Erroneous.**

Imbedded within defendant's ten-page argument that the search of the unit was improperly conducted without a signed warrant, is a single paragraph expressing defendant's doubt that a warrant ever existed because "no signed warrant was offered into evidence and the warrant's absence from the court's file [was] neither explained or [sic] otherwise accounted for." Br. of App. at 18. Considering the substantial deference given to the trial court, this oblique reference to the trial court's finding that the warrant was signed is insufficient to show that it was erroneous. Cf. United States v. Hurd, 642 F.2d 1179, 1183 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981) (refusing to find erroneous district court's finding that audio

tapes, having some omissions suggesting erasure, of defendant's conversations with government agents, had not been tampered with, based on testimony of agents); Evans v. State, 117 S.W.2d 462, 462 (Tex. Crim. App. 1938) (per curiam) (refusing to set aside trial court finding, that copy of lost or misplaced indictment which allegedly charged fewer offenses was a substantial copy of original indictment, because it was supported by some testimony). Indeed, having assumed the nonexistence of the warrant from the facts asserted, defendant immediately resumes his discussion of the dangers of unsupported searches based on unsigned warrants without any reference to the trial court's express finding. Br. of App. at 18-19.

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